

# The Intersection of DEI and MSDs

**Ensuring Equitable Outcomes** 

# **Contents**

Executive Summary
Introduction
Understanding Work Systems
Work Organization
Working Hours
Type and Pace of Work
Workplace and Equipment Design
Workplace Design
PPE and Equipment Design
Fostering Inclusive Organizational Practices
Safety Culture
Policies and Procedures
Accessibility
Worker Backgrounds
Psychological Safety
Psychosocial Risk Factors
Implementing Equitable MSD Solutions
Elimination
Substitution
Engineering
Administrative
Personal Protective Equipment
Conclusion
Authors
Acknowledgments
Paferances 22

# **Executive Summary**

The goal of this report is to create an understanding of why diversity, equity and inclusion (DEI) should be a foundational element of musculoskeletal disorder (MSD) prevention, describe how organizational characteristics can perpetuate disproportionate risk between workers and provide equitable solutions organizations can implement to lessen disproportionality in risk. While personal factors may be relevant, it is important to distinguish that these are not themselves risk factors - MSD risk factors are due to the workplace not accommodating or providing for all people. This paper will cover personal factors such as age, gender, race/ ethnicity and cultural background, but does not focus on other personal factors such as religion, geographic location or sexual orientation, as more research that directly links these factors and MSDs is still needed.

Organizations should take several steps to ensure all employees are equitably safe from MSDs in their workplace. A first step to accommodating proper ergonomic solutions for all employees is understanding that people are unique, workplaces are diverse and certain aspects of work can lead to inequities experienced by some groups of workers.

In addition to this, it is important to foster inclusion. In an inclusive workplace, employees are empowered and encouraged to speak up about concerns. Creating a strong safety culture, developing a psychologically safe workplace, and acknowledging and accounting for psychosocial risks are important factors in making sure the workplace is safe and inclusive.

Once these aspects are understood, employers would be best served by identifying and advancing equitable solutions that improve jobs with the greatest MSD risk. When doing so, it is essential to seek and include feedback on job tasks and risk factors from a diverse group of employees to source solutions suitable for all. Potential equitable solutions are provided at the conclusion of this report, using the Hierarchy of Controls as a framework.

While the solutions provided are relatively specific as they relate to the Hierarchy of Controls, there are some overall takeaways. Employers need to be mindful of the risks in their workplace and a way to achieve this is to involve frontline workers in the design and implementation of safety solutions. Simple changes to workspaces to make them more accessible to a greater range of workers can also improve musculoskeletal safety not only for at-risk workers but for all workers.

This report is intended to be a starting point for organizations to use to work towards building a safer workplace for all employees. An equitable workplace recognizes and celebrates the differences in its workforce and prioritizes the inclusion of all when implementing ergonomic programs and MSD prevention solutions. In summary, employers should implement solutions to keep all employees safe and free from ergonomic hazards, regardless of individual characteristics, and to enhance productivity and workflow.











#### Introduction

At a fundamental level, the facets of diversity, equity and inclusion (DEI) and ergonomics share very similar goals. Ergonomics is a human-centered practice, modifying work environments and job tasks to meet the needs of the workforce and empower healthier, safer and more efficient work. In other words, the goal of ergonomics is to fit the work to the worker, and this really means all workers, of all demographic characteristics. Yet, when ergonomic hazards are unmitigated in the workplace, MSDs are likely to occur.

Occupational hazards are a threat to all workers. However, Krieger et al. (2008) proposed the "inverse hazard law" implying that more occupational and social hazards are found in sociodemographic groups with the least societal power. In other words, work is a social determinant of health. Given that health hazards vary inversely with the resources of a population, this characterizes the magnitude of the predicament faced by such populations. A critical, often overlooked point of the "inverse hazard law" is that investigating the health consequences in socio-economically disadvantaged populations cannot be achieved by focusing solely on these groups.

Instead, to fully understand health consequences in these populations, a broader understanding of the societal context and underlying systems is necessary. Krieger et al. (2008) demonstrated connections between the social context and systems (e.g., racial discrimination, sexual harassment, workplace abuse), occupational hazards (e.g., dust, fumes, chemical, noise, ergonomic strain) and poor health within understudied, low-income, working-class populations. Krieger (2010) further emphasized the connection between societal determinants of health and occupational health inequities when viewed through an ecosocial theory perspective.

The fundamental idea of this theory is that who is employed (or not), the nature of their work, the exposures they face, their treatment, job stability, benefits, pay and the actions taken to address these issues are all contingent on societal context. These issues intersect with people's socioeconomic status, race/ethnicity, nationality, immigration status, age, gender, sexuality and more. To this effect, current work in recognizing the importance of considering DEI factors in relation to MSD risk and prevention touches on many issues pertaining to health disparities of diverse working populations.

#### **MSDs at a Glance**

MSDs are the largest category of workplace injury resulting from risk factors including forceful exertions, awkward or static postures, and repetitive movements. MSDs are injuries or disorders of the muscles, nerves, tendons, joints, cartilage and spinal discs. Specifically, work-related MSDs are conditions in which the work environment or performance of work contributes significantly to the condition, the condition is made worse by the work performed or the condition persists longer due to work-related factors. Affecting nearly one-quarter of the global population, MSDs impact business efficiency and workers' ability to live their fullest lives.

MSDs are also the leading cause of worker disability, involuntary retirement and limitations to gainful employment. In addition to the impact these injuries have on employee wellbeing, they cost businesses in the private sector nearly \$17 billion a year.

While DEI certainly intersects with all workplace safety issues, it is appropriate to give attention to the intersection of DEI and MSDs given the employee and employer repercussions of workplace MSDs. Employers must understand how they can ensure everyone in their workforce can avoid these injuries.







For the workplace to be safe and equitable for all employees regardless of race, color, religion, sex (including pregnancy, sexual orientation or gender identity), national origin, age, disability or genetic information (including family medical history), it is important to understand the facets of DEI, why they are important and how to address concerns in the interest of workplace safety equity, ergonomics and the prevention of musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs).

DEI within the workplace, and especially regarding safety, has received increased emphasis and attention in recent years. While efforts have been made to increase workplace safety through regulations, innovative technologies, hazard assessments and other efforts, some workers remain at substantial and disproportionate risk for injuries in the workplace.



According to data compiled by the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) and the U.S. Census Bureau, 16% of all private-sector workers in the United States were employed in high-risk occupations (Baron et al., 2013). However, many demographic groups have significantly higher representation in high-risk occupations, with 21% of males, 24% of Hispanics, 21% of non-Hispanic Black, 20% of American Indians/Alaska Natives, 22% of foreign-born workers and 26% of workers with no more than a high school education being employed in highrisk occupations. This is in comparison to 13% of White workers and 9% of workers with higher than a high school level of education seen in these same high-risk occupations.

**DEI at a Glance** (Morukian, 2022; Shore & Chung, 2022)

Diversity encompasses all human characteristics that make us who we are, such as race, ethnicity, gender/sex, socioeconomic status, national origin, disability status, language or religion.

Equity aims to promote fairness by creating a level playing field for all and making sure everyone has an equal chance to succeed by recognizing some groups of individuals may have unearned advantages.

**Inclusion** is the practice of creating an environment where everyone is equally valued, respected for their individuality, and their need for belongingness and uniqueness is satisfied.

Research shows workers of color face more work-related injuries and illnesses, but most workers' compensation systems do not gather data on race and ethnicity (Buchanan et al., 2010; Seabury et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2023; Strong & Zimmerman, 2005). Based on Washington state's workers' compensation claims between 2013-2017, Black workers consistently had the highest claim rates across all industry and occupational sectors. Similarly, Hispanic claimants surpassed White and Asian/Pacific Islander claimants in most industry and occupational sectors. Nearly half of the accepted claims were attributed to bodily reaction/ overexertion injuries during this reporting period. Collectively, these data demonstrate the disproportionate rate of non-fatal injuries, inclusive of MSDs, between groups in a variety of industry sectors.

Focusing on DEI in organizations not only increases fairness and acceptance, but it can also have positive impacts on productivity, improved innovation and creativity, personal growth, retention of valuable talent and strengthened communication with a broad range of clients, customers and professional contacts (Dike, 2013). Accommodating diversity also helps employers and companies as it opens them up to a larger potential workforce that is as diverse as the company's client base.







#### The Influence of Systemic Factors

This paper is intended to identify workplace factors that can lead to inequitable MSD outcomes among a diverse workforce and provide solutions for mitigation. However, it is worth noting that many of the factors leading to disparate health outcomes in the United States are due to more than organizational factors. These underlying causes undoubtedly contribute to differences in worker safety but are out of the scope of the present work. If you would like to learn more about some of these factors, see these sources on systemic racism, gender bias, ageism, ableism and the poverty cycle.

More recently, Richard et al. (2021) reported that racial diversity in upper and lower management has positive impacts on workplace productivity. The highest organizational productivity was observed when there was more racial diversity in lower and upper management. However, the lowest productivity was observed when there was more racial diversity in lower management but less racial diversity in upper management. This implies organizations that are diverse in their lower management should strive to also be diverse in upper management.

Further, providing employees with a sense of control in the organization creates a culture that values and promotes equity (Al-Zawahreh & Al-Mahi, 2012). Perceptions of workplace equity tend to increase levels of employee performance (Banks et al., 2012), increase job satisfaction (Khalifa & Truong, 2010) and decrease an employee's intention to leave their employer (Mahajan & Benson, 2013). Other potential benefits include increased recognition of the value and skill of employees and increased power and reputation of the company externally (Chicha, 2006). When all employees are included in their workplace and their unique voices are heard, there is reduced absenteeism, improved innovation and creativity, more business growth and increased commitment, confidence and morale in the workforce (O'Donovan, 2018).

#### **NSC DEI Definitions and Commitment Statement**

DEI has gained increased attention recently, but these are more than just buzzwords. While included earlier are cited definitions of diversity, equity and inclusion, NSC takes these definitions a step further by adding an element of justice to these definitions. Importantly, NSC reinforces that equity implies fairness and justice as a root cause. Additionally, NSC supports that inclusion should entail the intentional pursuit of creating equitable systems that provide all individuals equitable access to resources and in which individuals have a voice and representation. Related, NSC is committed to using an equity lens for all work and adheres to the below commitment statement:

At NSC, we demonstrate our commitment to diversity, equity and inclusion through our culture and our values. Our culture embraces all people regardless of ancestry, color, national origin, race, gender identity, sex, sexual orientation, age, religion, physical or mental disability, or veteran status. We boldly empower our team to model respect and dignity. We find impactful opportunities for growth and development. We create a safe environment that includes mental, physical, psychological and emotional protections. To be NSC is to deliver our mission by working together - our employees, members and stakeholders - in such a way that everyone feels a sense of belonging.

We believe that you can't be safe if you don't feel safe. Feeling safe requires a commitment to equitable policy implementation and promoting diversity in the safety profession. We must cultivate our own diverse, inclusive and equitable work environment to deliver on our mission to save lives, from the workplace to anyplace.



CONTACT US: msdsolutionslab@nsc.org (HI) LEARN MORE: nsc.org/msd





# **Understanding Work Systems**

A first step to implementing ergonomic solutions for all employees is understanding diversity within a workforce and knowing how certain aspects of work can lead to inequities experienced by some groups of workers. Ergonomics, when properly executed in an organization, has the potential to ensure all workers can perform their jobs safely and with maximum efficiency. The following sections discuss how work may be organized or completed and how this could disproportionately affect certain groups of workers. Work organization (e.g., working hours, type and pace of work), workplaces and equipment should be designed with diversity in mind.

#### **Work Organization**

Work organization characteristics such as work scheduling and non-standard work arrangements can negatively impact employees' musculoskeletal health and safety (Caruso, 2014; Howard, 2017; Marucci-Wellman, 2018). Additionally, the type of work being completed (e.g., physically demanding work or sedentary work) can impact worker health and safety, including MSDs (Afanuh & Johnson, 2017; Ahn et al., 2019;

Andersen et al., 2016; Genin, et al., 2018; Hiesinger & Tophoven, 2019). These characteristics of work may be more likely to lead to disproportionately negative outcomes for certain workers (Marucci-Wellman, 2018). Learning how these aspects of work can affect the prevalence of MSDs is imperative for employers to modify work to better suit diverse workforces or eliminate such work organization risks altogether.

#### **Working Hours**

Existing literature shows work aspects such as shift work, long hours and part-time employee status can impact the prevalence of MSDs among workers (International Labour Organization [ILO], 2013). For example, a study conducted among nurses revealed night workers had a significantly higher prevalence



of MSD symptoms in their lower back and ankle compared to day workers (Attarchi et al., 2014). Additionally, longer working hours are associated with an increased prevalence of MSDs. One study found that working 12 or more hours a day, more than 40 hours per week, and working on two or more weekends per month were all associated with MSDs in nurses (Lipscomb et al., 2002). Working more than 52 hours a week has also been found to be associated with a higher prevalence of upper and lower limb pain (Lee et al., 2018).

Men tend to work on average longer hours compared to women, which may lead them to disproportionately experience more MSDs (ILO, 2013). However, women participate more in part-time work, which has been found to result in an increased risk of experiencing an MSD in comparison to full-time employment (Gignac et al., 2018; ILO, 2013; Lipscomb et al., 2002). Part-time work tends to lack the health benefits typically associated with full-time employment, which may complicate, prolong, or inhibit MSD treatment and recovery leading to increased acuity or exacerbated conditions. Therefore, men and women may have varying likelihoods of suffering from an MSD depending on the type of shifts they work or their employment status.



The type of shift being completed may also disproportionately impact older workers and workers of color. One study found that for all workers, occupational injury risk, including the risk of MSDs, significantly increased on night shifts when compared to morning shifts due to increased levels of fatigue (33% increase), while the risk was also slightly elevated on afternoon or evening shifts (Fisher et al., 2017). However, workers 20 years of age or younger experienced less risk on the afternoon or evening shift compared to workers over the age of 20. A possible explanation for this is that adolescents tend to sleep longer and later into the day, which could make them less fatigued for their afternoon or evening shifts.

Ferguson et al. (2023) found that non-White workers were more likely to be employed in jobs that required working a mixture of day and night shifts. Such a demanding work schedule can increase the risk of negative safety outcomes, such as MSDs, due to less time for adequate sleep and recovery from work, longer exposure to hazards and demands at work, and less time to attend to non-work responsibilities (Caruso & Waters, 2008). Employers should be aware of how worker shifts may differentially impact them and develop solutions to prevent such disproportionate MSD risk.

#### Type and Pace of Work

Other workplace factors highly associated with MSD risk and prevalence are the type of job and the pace at which work is done (Gallagher & Herberger, 2013; Lin et al., 2010). Mehlum and colleagues (2008) found employees in a lower occupational class experienced a higher prevalence of MSD pain. For those employed in jobs paying lower wages, 62% of women and 66% of men reported lower back pain over the last month, while those in higher-paying roles experienced MSD pain at rates of 43% and 35%, respectively.



This study also found the prevalence of musculoskeletal pain is partially due to the type of work being completed - those with a higher prevalence of pain typically performed manual labor, while those with less pain did more sedentary work. Manual labor jobs are also more likely to result in musculoskeletal injuries in comparison to jobs not requiring manual labor (Bernard & Putz-Anderson, 1997), and many of the experiences of manual workers can cause stress and lead to increases in MSDs (Ahn et al., 2019). Finally, workload, time demands, effort and physical demands have been shown to have a significant, positive relationship with MSDs (Habibi et al., 2015).

Some research has shown women tend to suffer more MSD-related pain in the upper back and upper limbs while men tend to suffer more from lower back pain (ILO, 2013; Institute for Work & Health, 2016). However, it is unclear whether this is due to biological differences in musculoskeletal structure or differences in tasks between industries where there is traditionally a higher representation of either males or females, which can have varying levels of MSD risk. For example, the health care, social assistance and educational services industries typically employ more women and consistently appear within the top 10 most MSD-afflicted industries (Injury Facts, 2020). Work in these industries often involves tasks that contribute to a higher risk of MSDs such as repetitive movements, awkward positions and static postures (Healthy Workplaces, 2021; Isusi et al., 2020).







Cleaning and housekeeping are also majority female fields with high MSDs, which could be the result of working under time pressure and at high speeds, increasing their chance of injury and MSD (Healthy Workplaces, 2021). Specifically, Buchanan et al. (2010) reported increased injury risk factors for female, Hispanic housekeepers in comparison to all workers in the service industry sector. While these industries may experience a high number of MSDs, other fields such as mining or construction – which employ a higher number of men and experience a high number of MSDs but are more "visibly dangerous" – have been the focus of occupational safety and health laws and regulations (ILO, 2013). However, this has historically caused hazards in less "visibly dangerous" industries where women are overrepresented to be under-recognized or understudied, even when the risks and dangers are still prevalent.

More labor-intensive work with high demands and fast paces can also be difficult for older workers (Holmstrom & Engholm, 2003). Among older workers, Hiesinger & Tophoven (2019) reported that sustained, elevated levels of physical and psychosocial work demands harm physical health, including MSDs, as well as mental health. Based on older workers' responses to the American Working Conditions Survey, Morrissey (2023) reported that older workers ages 50-70 experience difficult working conditions that could lead to MSDs, with 50% engaged in physically-demanding occupations, 54% exposed to unhealthy or hazardous work conditions, 46% in high-pressure jobs and 54% in challenging work schedules. These older workers also experience psychosocial risks, with 46% experiencing limited autonomy and 14% experiencing adverse social interactions. While workers in their prime age (35-49) were also likely to experience difficult working conditions, such conditions combined with increased risks faced by older workers due to their aging bodies put older workers at greater risk for serious injuries than prime-age workers (Morrissey, 2023).

These workplace demands are especially important as research has shown aging workers may have a harder time recovering from an injury, thus making the injury more severe and causing more time away from work. According to the BLS, the median duration of absence from work due to a workplace injury increases consistently with age, from 5 days among those younger than 25 years old to 12 days for those aged 55 and older (Rogers & Wiatrowski, 2005). Additionally, aging workers are more likely to sustain fewer, but more serious injuries, such as fractures, compared to younger workers. Younger workers are more likely to experience more frequent, but less serious injuries, such as sprains and strains (Silverstein, 2008).

Using data from the National Health Interview Survey, Kachan et al. (2012) reported that for workers aged 55 and older, industry type emerged as the primary factor associated with non-fatal injury risk, including MSDs. Industries such as agriculture, forestry, fisheries and construction consistently exhibited higher risk levels across all age groups, while younger workers in manufacturing and older workers in transportation, communication and other public utilities faced elevated injury risks, inclusive of MSDs. These findings emphasize the importance of tailored safety measures that account for industry and job tasks' differential impact on certain workers to mitigate workplace injury risks effectively.



Trends regarding type and pace of work and race/ethnicity are also found in the literature. Latino immigrants and Black male workers are more likely to be employed in dangerous jobs and industries (Seabury et al., 2017). These high-risk industries lead to higher rates of injury and illness, including MSDs. This finding may be due to disparities in diverse economic opportunities that lead to more hazardous jobs for workers of color which inherently increase the risk of workplace injury (O'Brien et al., 2020). Research shows almost half of all Black workers are employed in the health care, retail, or accommodations and food service industries, and are underrepresented in high-growth, high-wage, low-safety risk industries, such as information technology, professional services and financial services (Stewart et al., 2021).

Individuals who move countries to better their living or working conditions, whether permanently (immigrants) or temporarily (migrants) may be at increased risk of MSDs. For example, migrant workers are also more likely to experience work-related injuries and illnesses, including MSDs, in comparison to non-migrant workers, though this relationship may fluctuate based on other variables such as industry or gender (Hargreaves et al., 2019). Akay and Ahmadi (2022) showed that immigrant workers often face greater exposure to physical hazards and work under poor psychosocial working conditions compared to non-immigrant workers. Their findings are like that of Sterud et al. (2018) who reported that immigrant workers in Europe and Canada experience poorer working conditions and occupational health than native workers. Further, Snipes et al. (2017) found that farm owners forced their migrant workers to work despite injuries and denied access to medical care or treatment, while native workers more commonly had time off approved and received better health care. Given these findings on the impact of type and pace of work on MSDs, employers should provide safety measures, such as more rest breaks or flexibility in scheduling, to keep workers safe.



# **Workplace and Equipment Design**

Other job aspects that may not account for diversity and may inadvertently lead to MSDs are workspace design or workstation layouts, the design of equipment, and the design and assignment of personal protective equipment (PPE). According to ISO standard 26800:2011, workspaces and workstations should be designed to accommodate about 90% of the population (ranging from a female in the fifth percentile to a male in the ninety-fifth percentile), and while this does accommodate nearly all industrial workers, this may leave some employees without proper workspaces and equipment (Salvendy, 2012). However, it is often not financially feasible for most companies to go beyond this range of accommodation.

#### **Workplace Design**

Notably, a lack of diverse equipment or workspaces has the potential to impact employees who have existing physical limitations and workers who fall outside of the targeted 90% of the population. An employee who uses a wheelchair or someone smaller than a fifth percentile female may have difficulty accessing the full range of their workstation depending on its design, especially if it lacks adjustability. In addition to accessing individual workstations, such employees may have difficulty reaching common items, causing a need for repetitive reaching and placing the worker at increased risk for MSDs (BostonTec, 2022). Considerations such as adjustable workstations and furniture, relocation of commonly used materials and tools, and other forms of accommodations in alignment with the ADA 2010 Standards for Accessible Design can mitigate MSD risks.

Similarly, the Job Accommodation Network states it is essential to account for individuals who may have limitations related to mobility, vision, hearing or cognitive abilities in the design of computer workstations. A lack of accommodations in workspaces could put those with disabilities at a disproportionate risk of developing an MSD.

Ergonomically designed work environments also can ensure workplaces are age-friendly (NIOSH, 2023). BMW took a proactive approach by staffing a production line with workers reflecting the anticipated age distribution in 2017, which included more older workers (Loch et al., 2010). The older workforce achieved a 7% productivity increase within three months, reducing absenteeism and defects. This was achieved through various small, cost-effective changes such as increasing the emphasis on managing health care, enhancing workers' skills and the workplace environment, and instituting part-time policies and change management processes to enhance workplace ergonomics. Therefore, with ergonomics in the working environment properly addressed, older workers can work with increased efficiency and lessened risk of MSDs.

#### **PPE and Equipment Design**

In addition to workstation and work environment design, diversity in PPE selection is inadequate and may pose an additional risk to workers. PPE has traditionally been designed to fit the average White male, and as a result, females in the workforce are often not provided with properly fitting gear (ILO, 2013). On average, women tend to have shorter heads, broader faces, shorter legs, longer trunks, smaller feet and smaller hands compared to men (Marth, 2022). Failing to account for these differences in body proportions can lead to PPE that is ill-fitting, uncomfortable, cumbersome, oversized, potentially hazardous and overall less effective at keeping workers safe (Marth, 2022). Ill-fitting PPE can pose ergonomic and MSD hazards through impaired vision, restricted movement and an increased risk of tripping, falling or straining (Tranter, 2021).

Hegewisch and Mefferd (2021) examined PPE fit in the construction industry and found that women, non-binary and transgender workers encounter difficulties obtaining properly fitting PPE. Their survey data found only 19% of respondents consistently received appropriately sized gloves and safety gear while on the job. Furthermore, the importance of considering hand size in hand tool and glove design in relation to MSD prevention is evident. Multiple studies have shown the importance of properly fitting gloves concerning hand-arm vibration syndrome (Bovenzi

et al., 2016; Hewitt et al. 2016; Johanning et al. 2020). PPE may also not be equitably available to all workers, as exemplified by inadequate access to PPE for non-White health care workers (Nguyen et al., 2020).

Fram et al. (2021) examined the ease of use of one-size-fits-all orthopedic tools and surgical instruments and the injury rates of male and female orthopedic surgeons. Female orthopedic surgeons experienced more musculoskeletal symptoms related to surgical instruments, possessed negative attitudes towards these instruments and identified a significant number of common instruments as challenging or uncomfortable to use when compared to their male colleagues. Similarly, Hislop et al. (2023) revealed that female surgeons, especially novices, took longer to complete standardized surgical tasks and experienced double the frequency of musculoskeletal pain compared to male colleagues. Female surgeons and those needing smaller gloves also consistently reported difficulties and needing modified grip techniques with standard tools. These tool design studies further emphasize the importance of considering the diverse needs of the user in ergonomics and MSD prevention.



However, efforts have been made to ensure adequate PPE fit throughout industries, as seen in the proposed rule to clarify PPE standards in the construction industry (U.S. Department of Labor, 2023). The proposal states that PPE must fit each employee properly to protect them from occupational hazards such as MSDs. This is an important step to ensure employees of all sizes and proportions are protected in all industries. Effectively designing and evaluating equipment and PPE as a function of worker characteristics is a must for MSD prevention.



# **Fostering Inclusive Organizational Practices**

Beyond accounting for diversity in the workplace to mitigate MSDs, it is important to also foster inclusion. In an inclusive workplace, employees are empowered to speak up about concerns, inclusive of safety and MSD concerns. Creating a strong safety culture, developing a psychologically safe workplace, and acknowledging and accounting for psychosocial risks are important factors in making sure your workplace is inclusive and safe from MSD risks. Achieving DEI is incomplete until employees feel a sense of belonging, where their contributions are valued, and they perceive themselves as belonging and essential (Verllinden, 2023).

### **Safety Culture**

Cultivating a safe and healthy work environment is dependent on an organization's safety culture, which should be rooted in DEI principles. Safety culture refers to an organization's shared perceptions, beliefs, values and attitudes that combine to create a commitment to safety and an effort to minimize harm (Weaver et al., 2013). The National Health Service of England (2022) states that a positive safety culture is collaboratively crafted, created and nurtured so workers are safe. Positive safety cultures also foster continuous learning and improvement of safety risks, supportive and psychologically safe teamwork, and an environment where employees are empowered to speak up.

To this effect, The Joint Commission (2012) emphasizes that workplaces are safer when a positive safety culture is present, as workers are more likely to adhere to standard safety precautions when they feel their organization has a positive safety culture. Understanding how organizational culture can hinder or facilitate safety practices is also essential (Flynn, 2014). Organizations need to recognize that adhering to "the way we do things here" may unintentionally exclude workers from diverse backgrounds. To avoid the exclusion of workers and to promote a strong safety culture, organizations should focus on inclusion, open communication, trust and the engagement of all employees (Rattan, 2023). Therefore, employers should consider how their workplace policies and procedures, accessibility of information, workers' cultural backgrounds, and psychologically safe teams and work environments might impact their overall safety culture, subsequent MSD risks and injuries, as well as organizational flexibility and efficiency.





#### **Policies and Procedures**

Organizations can strengthen their safety culture with policies and procedures that promote healthy, balanced lifestyles for workers. Workplaces that do not offer benefits such as paid sick leave and disability relief may enable an unsafe culture in which employees feel insecure about their employment and unsafe taking necessary time off when they've suffered a workplace injury, such as an MSD. Luong and colleagues (2012) found that for workplaces with paid sick leave and long-term disability benefits, workers experienced significantly fewer MSD symptoms of the knee compared to similar workers from workplaces with fewer benefits and policies. Policies and benefits also need to be clearly understood by all employees, as just the existence of proper policies and procedures is not enough to combat MSDs. Workers may enter a workplace unfamiliar to them, with a lack of knowledge of different materials, procedures and regulatory structures (Flynn, 2014). This lack of familiarity and understanding of how to operate within the system can lead to unsafe situations even when policies and procedures are in place.

Additionally, McCollister and colleagues (2010) found that Hispanic workers in the U.S. reported limited access to health care due to a lack of health insurance coverage. Their analysis of 1997-2007 data from the National Health Interview Survey highlighted a 7% decrease in coverage among U.S. workers, with the steepest declines observed among Hispanic workers, particularly in the construction industry (25% decrease). More recently, despite coverage gains from the Affordable Care Act, coverage disparities persist. Specifically in 2022, the Hispanic uninsured rate grew from 2.5 to 2.7 times higher than the rate for White people from 2010 to 2022, while Black people remained 1.5 times more likely to be uninsured than White people (Hill et al., 2024). Such a lack of health insurance coverage may make proper treatment of MSDs difficult and can slow a worker's recovery time and the return-to-work process. Clear and accessible policies and procedures are vital to ensuring organizations are equitably protecting all workers from safety risks.

Further, MSD risk assessments may not properly account for additional risks faced by those who are physically disabled. Risk assessments are procedures within a workplace used to provide an objective measure of risks that may lead to MSDs or other injuries. However, many standard observational risk assessments such as the Rapid Upper Limb Assessment (RULA), Rapid Entire Body Assessment (REBA) and the Ovako Working Posture Analysis System (OWAS) are not designed to account for workers who may have a physical disability (Herzog et al., 2019). As such, it is essential to work with a certified professional ergonomist or occupational therapist, dependent upon workers' disability status, to ensure their knowledge is applied to the workplace or station redesign to address risks and make work tasks less burdensome for the employee.

#### Accessibility

Language barriers can also affect inclusion in the workplace and impact MSD outcomes. These barriers between non-English speaking workers and their supervisors and colleagues pose a common challenge for companies, especially in areas lacking bilingual support (Flynn, 2014). Managers often rely on the best English speaker among non-native-speaking employees to translate, risking miscommunication. Also, hiring bilingual individuals as safety professionals or supervisors solely based on language skills does not guarantee effective communication or leadership.

Workplaces with multilingual workers need to provide MSD safety education, training materials, posters and other signage in languages that reflect their workforce to ensure all workers are aware of safety procedures and protocols (Adebajo et al., 2018; Samanta et al., 2013). Jeraj and Butt (2020) explored language barriers and their relationship with MSDs and other difficulties experienced by diverse workforces. They found technical language and a lack of information made it difficult for some workers to access health care resources. Their findings also revealed additional inconsistencies in the quality of care and lack of control over treatment options, which suggests the presence of additional underlying factors contributing to inequities. Employers need to be aware of and correct such translation inequities that may impact workers and aim to educate workers on health care and treatment options related to MSDs and other injuries.

#### **Worker Backgrounds**

While effective communication is crucial, focusing solely on language can overshadow other significant cultural differences. Workplaces should consider the cultural background of their workers and how this may impact feelings of inclusion, MSD prevalence and overall health outcomes. Cultural backgrounds can influence people's perceptions of their illness, the likelihood of raising concerns over pain or seeking treatment, and their approaches to healing (Peacock & Patel, 2008). In turn, this can complicate MSD and other health outcomes.

Cultural factors affecting workplace safety and the risk of MSDs include workers' views on work, relationships with co-workers and employers, perceptions of workplace dangers relative to other risks, adaptation to workplace hazards and comparisons with other worker groups (Flynn, 2014). For example, immigration policies and political debates have intensified the vulnerability of immigrants and their families in the United States and may lead to their involvement in more dangerous work (Gomberg-Muñoz, 2010). In their study on Latino immigrant workers, Gomberg-Muñoz (2010) found that workers' "willingness to work" and cultivate social identities as "hard workers" may increase their likelihood of accepting dangerous working conditions and increase injury risk, including the risk of MSDs.

Moreover, Garcia and de Castro (2017) studied Filipino fish processing workers and found their cultural values of "hiya" and "pakikisama," which concern the tendency to avoid evoking shame and the need to get along with others, respectively, may prevent them from expressing dissatisfaction, reporting occupational injuries or addressing challenges with supervisors. This potentially leads to repeated, more severe occupational injuries and internalized discontent.

Additionally, some workers rely on alternative therapies which may discourage them from seeking professional medical advice or following prescribed treatments. More research is needed to better understand the underlying relationship between culture, health and illness before we can fully address racial and ethnic inequities in health and safety (Samanta et al., 2013). Employers also need to understand how the diversity of their workers may impact their feelings of inclusion or perceptions of workplace safety as a means to better understand MSD prevention.

#### **Psychological Safety**

Another key component of an inclusive work environment is psychological safety. Common definitions of psychological safety describe perceptions of feeling safe to speak up when hazards or other challenges arise without fear of negative consequences in workgroup settings (Edmonson, 1999; Kahn, 1990). Employers need to create environments and cultures that allow all employees to feel safe speaking up and being their true selves at work. While DEI efforts in the workplace have historically focused on the diversity component by supporting workers of color, there is currently a shift to concentrating more on inclusion, in which the focus becomes creating an organization where all workers feel psychologically safe and welcomed (Janssens & Zanoni, 2008; Nair & Vohra, 2015). This shift towards psychological safety and genuine inclusion can also facilitate health promotion at work. For example, Thissen et al. (2023) reported that employee wellbeing at work is significantly influenced by a sense of belonging to the organization or team, with managers showing appreciation for their employees and involving them in decision-making.



Shore and Chung (2022) explored the relationship between workplace inclusion and employees of color and found that inclusive environments encourage people to voice their opinions, while exclusive environments cultivate cultures of silence that suppress employee voices. Voice suppression can prove particularly harmful to employees of color, as they may already perceive their voices and opinions as less valued than the majority group. As a result of this disparity, Black and Hispanic workers report the most unease about reporting unsafe work conditions when compared to other racial and ethnic groups (Mabud et al., 2021). Therefore, Black and Hispanic workers may be more uneasy reporting conditions with MSD risk. Low-wage workers and workers of color are also commonly more fearful of reporting an occupational injury, inclusive of MSDs, due to potential job loss and subsequent economic instability, intimidation from employers and co-workers to not report workplace injuries, or stigma around getting injured and feeling pain (The Committee on Education and Labor, 2008; Topete et al., 2018).

Women may also feel more comfortable than men reporting work-related MSDs. In a sample of working individuals 50 years of age or older with arthritis, women reported more severe symptoms and limitations than men (Gignac et al., 2018). Another study looking at MSDs in veterans found women were more likely to report moderate to severe pain while men were more likely to report no pain (Higgins et al., 2017). A longitudinal study from Norway looking at just over 64,000 individuals found 22% of women in their sample had filed for disability at the five-year follow-up compared to 18% of men (Gjesdal et al., 2011). While the studies mentioned do not explicitly identify why gender differences in reporting are occurring, several possible explanations exist. The type of work being performed, a lack of accommodations for women, or stereotypical gender norms around admitting pain and seeking help may amplify differences in speaking up and MSD reporting.

#### **Psychosocial Hazards**

Rick and Briner (2000) suggest a hazard is anything that could potentially cause harm. Furthermore, the Canadian Centre for Occupational Safety and Health (2024) describes a hazard as "any source of potential damage, harm or adverse health effects on something or someone." The keywords in these two definitions are "cause" and "source," indicating that a hazard is the origin or root of the harm experienced. According to Nemmers (2018) and Martinelli (2019), there are six hazards: biological, chemical, ergonomic, physical, safety and psychosocial. Though no definition exists in an OSHA standard, psychosocial hazards are discussed in several other countries, generally as a component of their occupational health and safety management regulations.

Psychosocial hazards are psychosocial factors that are perceived or experienced as unfavorable and can cause damage. Damage from a psychosocial hazard occurs in the mind of the individual exposed, which in turn influences their behavior. The resulting action could expose the individual to harm and cause similar or different harm to others (Daniels, 2022). Psychosocial hazards are causal to other psychiatric, psychological and physical illnesses and injuries (Tagoe & Amponsah-Tawiah, 2019). The severity, duration and frequency of exposure to psychosocial hazards can negatively affect psychological safety and increase the potential for psychosocial risk factors.





#### **Psychosocial Risk Factors**

In addition to safety culture and psychological safety, several psychosocial risk factors can play a role in workplace inclusion and the prevalence of MSDs. According to the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), psychosocial risk factors are factors in the work environment that can cause stress, strain or interpersonal problems for the worker. Common psychosocial risk factors are job stress, job dissatisfaction, time pressure and poor organizational, supervisor or coworker support.

Related to MSDs, research shows a lack of job control is associated with higher levels of stress, which can lead to a higher risk of developing an MSD (ILO, 2013; Landsbergis et al., 2018). Occupational stress has direct associations with MSDs, in that people with higher occupational stress are more likely to experience workrelated MSDs (Hämmig, 2020; Li et al., 2021). Related, Ng and team (2019) found psychosocial stressors at work, such as role conflict, led to MSDs of the wrist/hand, shoulders and lower back. Habibi and team (2015) also reported workload frustration has a significant relationship with MSDs. Lastly, using the Quality of Work Life Survey, Yang et al. (2023) reported significant associations between back pain and several psychosocial factors, including job strain, work-life imbalance, harassment and discrimination based on race/ethnic origin, gender or age.

In addition to MSD rates, psychosocial factors can also impact the MSD recovery process. Lu et al. (2014) found workers who faced physical workplace violence, low job autonomy and high job strain were more likely to experience work-related injury absence compared to their counterparts. Similarly, workers experiencing physically demanding roles tend to have higher rates of short- and long-term absenteeism due to MSDs while those with more flexibility in their role have lower absenteeism due to MSDs (Canjuga et al., 2010). Psychosocial factors can also influence the duration of disability, recovery after a work-related injury and return to work after an injury. Moreover, low job satisfaction at work and low social support, either from supervisors or co-workers, can influence sickness absence due to low back pain (Hoogendoorn et al. 2002) and can hinder recovery after a work-related injury (Thumula & Negrusa, 2022).

Due to workplace and societal factors, such as pay inequity or a lack of representation in higher levels of an organization, female workers are more frequently exposed to psychosocial risks, such as workplace violence or harassment, compared to male workers (Healthy Workplaces, 2021). In a NIOSH-led study, Fekedulegn et al. (2019) found that workplace discrimination varied, with the highest prevalence at 25% among Black women and the lowest at 11% among White men. Black workers reported a 60% higher rate of discrimination than White workers, while women reported a 53% higher prevalence of discrimination than men. This study emphasizes the need for focused interventions to reduce workplace discrimination among at-risk segments of the U.S. labor market. While mistreatment or discrimination alone do not lead to higher rates of MSDs, they contribute to emotional turmoil, burnout, depression and anxiety (ILO, 2013; Healthy Workplaces, 2021; Isusi et al., 2020), which are associated with a higher probability of developing an MSD (Healthy Workplaces, 2021).



Psychosocial risks are also more pervasive in jobs and industries commonly employing workers of color, and therefore such employees are at a higher risk of experiencing psychosocial risk factors (Mutambudzi, 2017). In the construction industry, psychosocial risks such as harassment and discrimination can harm workplace safety, inclusive of MSD risk, productivity and skilled workforce retention (Respectful Workplace Review Committee, 2020; Kelly & Benitez, 2022). These issues disproportionately affect women and Black, Indigenous and other people of color in the industry. Further, Black workers are commonly employed in the health care, retail, or accommodations and food service industries, which tend to see higher levels of occupational stress and can in turn lead to disproportionately more MSDs for those employed in these industries (Stewart et al., 2021).

Given that both psychosocial stressors and employee demographics vary by industry, it is important to be aware of disproportionality in the experience of psychosocial risk factors (BLS, 1999). Taken together, psychosocial MSD risks remain prevalent within all industries and impact employees differently depending on many factors. Employers should work to mitigate psychosocial risks in their workplaces while understanding the disproportionate impact such risks may have on their workforce.

# Implementing Equitable MSD Solutions

Understanding the impact of workplace factors, such as work organization, availability of proper equipment, safety culture, psychological safety and psychosocial risk factors, is only part of cultivating a safe and equitable work environment for all workers. Another important step to creating a safe and equitable working environment is ensuring leadership and employees are actively involved in MSD prevention.

Regarding leadership involvement, senior leaders are encouraged to champion DEI practices by fostering a positive safety culture and promoting inclusivity through open dialogues and social connections within teams. Leaders should also cultivate situational and cultural awareness to foster inclusiveness. Lastly, it is vital for leaders to develop positive relations with workers (e.g., transformational leadership), provide workplace support (e.g., peer support and organizational support) and consider the importance of work design (e.g., characteristics such as job autonomy, interdependence and role clarity) to build psychological safety (Frazier et al., 2017).

Employee involvement and feedback are also imperative to implementing MSD solutions that are equitable and inclusive. Specifically, organizations need to create an environment that is conducive to providing feedback on the design of workspaces for continuous improvement, possibly through user surveys or focus groups to understand the unique ergonomic challenges of employees from various backgrounds. Employees should also be empowered to actively engage in ergonomics and safety discussions, offer suggestions and voice their concerns. Another tactic to enhance solutions development is establishing employee working groups that consist of diverse employees and include those employees in risk assessments and subsequent analyses to provide different perspectives and lead to more comprehensive hazard identification and better safety solutions. Finally, consider the role DEI factors might play when investigating workplace incidents to understand whether biases or systemic issues contributed to the incident and address them accordingly.



In addition to ensuring a positive culture is in place and that all workers are involved, MSD risks can be reduced by adopting work practices and solutions that remove or reduce identified risks. Mitigation techniques are typically assessed according to their position on the Hierarchy of Controls. In decreasing order of guality, they are:

Control Type	Risk is Reduced by:	Hierarchy of Controls
Elimination	Eliminating conditions or processes that contribute to worker injury/illness.	Elimination
Substitution	Opting for a safer alternative to a working condition or process	Substitution
Cubolitation	that would otherwise contribute to worker injury/illness.	Engineering
Engineering	Reorganizing or redesigning work to minimize exposure to hazards.	Administrative
Administrative	Changing the procedures or providing suitable training.	Hectiveness
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)	Providing protective clothing that offers a degree of safety.	Effe

The section below outlines potential solutions to address inequities in the workplace, organized by the <u>Hierarchy of Controls</u>. While this is not an exhaustive list, we encourage safety professionals to apply the information and examples provided in this paper to their unique environments. Employers should focus on identifying and advancing equitable solutions to improve jobs with the greatest MSD risk. When doing so, it is essential to seek and include feedback on job tasks and risk factors from a diverse group of employees to source solutions helpful for all. While the solutions presented are especially beneficial to prevent MSDs, many of these solutions can be applied to prevent other workplace injuries.

#### Elimination

• Be mindful of jobs that demand high exertions, awkward or sustained postures, or a fast pace and eliminate them when able

#### Substitution

- Use workplace design adaptable to those with different sizes, abilities and needs (e.g., desks with adjustable heights that can be adapted to accommodate wheelchair users, commonly used items stored between shoulder and hip height) when possible, strive for universal designs to accommodate varied sizes and shapes
- Provide ergonomic accommodations, including reasonable accommodations for employees with known medical conditions or disabilities – this may include adjustable workstations, supportive seating, ergonomic tools and assistive devices to minimize the risk of strain or injury





#### **Engineering**

- Include employees from all levels of the organization in the design and evaluation of engineering controls
- Provide assistive devices that are adjustable and can adapt to worker needs to minimize the forces, reaches and repetitive motions in the job these may include devices such as (but not limited to): lifts, hoists, cobots, carts, counterbalances, turntables and conveyors
- Consider different needs and issues for employees with sensory conditions for example, account for employees with hearing differences with visual warnings and training in addition to auditory ones
- Ensure technology tools and interfaces are designed with accessibility features to accommodate employees with various abilities (Downey et al., 2023)
- Install ramps, handrails, elevators or other accessibility assistance to enable easy access to different areas of the workplace
- Understand the requirements of equipment and determine if workers with medical conditions will be affected for example, some automated equipment and robots have magnets installed which can interfere with medical implants or devices
- Incorporate designs respecting different cultural norms and practices for example, install guards around equipment that can get otherwise caught on culturally sensitive clothing that cannot be substituted (e.g., workers who wear hijab/abaya clothing)
- Understand the requirements and accommodation requests that fall under the <u>American Disabilities Act (ADA)</u>
  to ensure workers are protected

#### **Administrative**

#### Policies and Procedures

- Promote diverse representation in ergonomics and safety leadership, committees and training materials when employees see leaders and colleagues who reflect their identities, they may feel more comfortable engaging in safety discussions and reporting hazards
- Analyze current ergonomics, safety and health policies and revise them where necessary the goal of revisions should be to ensure these policies cover and are accessible and applicable to the full diversity of workers in your workplace
- Routinely check in with employees on which policies or training may need revision and make timely changes
- Translate policies and trainings to ensure understanding across all cultures, backgrounds and perspectives relevant to your workplace additionally, have bilingual staff or translators available to answer any questions or concerns relating to workplace policies or training
- Consider including images or pictures to convey important safety information across language barriers and for those with verbal or auditory disabilities
- Develop, communicate and review policies and procedures that address discrimination, harassment or bias in the workplace
- Ensure safe manual materials handling guidelines for employees of all sexes and builds (e.g., evaluate jobs that require heavy lifting or lowering, use safe limits derived from the NIOSH Lifting Equation or Liberty Mutual Manual Materials Handling Equations or similar resources)
- Ease working pace requirements to reduce stress, <u>fatigue</u> and the risk of serious injury
- Allow frequent rest breaks to alleviate MSD symptoms more frequent, shorter breaks provide more recovery than longer, less frequent breaks

- Ensure pay equity for all those who are performing the same or equivalent job
- Consider "job sharing" or part-time work for employees at higher risk (e.g., older workers) as needed to account for differences in endurance and strength
- Make sure the workplace is accessible to all employees, including those with mobility challenges or disabilities
- Develop and facilitate reasonable accommodation guidelines for workers returning to work or to meet their medical needs (ILO, 2016)
- Determine if hiring or promotion practices are, purposefully or not, systematically treating employees differently or assigning them different work based on their demographic characteristics

#### Reporting

- Ensure the systems for reporting pain and other MSD signs and symptoms are accessible and communicated to all employees, including temporary and part-time workers
- Provide a system for workers to report MSD risks and hazards anonymously
- Encourage employees to report risks or incidences and be prepared to act on reports

#### Training

- Develop safety training programs that consider employees' diverse learning styles, abilities and preferences this can involve using formats, such as visual, auditory or hands-on learning, to ensure everyone comprehends safety protocols
- Create a mental health training program for managers, focusing on prompt, supportive communication and practical assistance for their workers this could potentially result in a substantial decrease in work-related sick leave (Milligan-Saville et al., 2017)

#### Access to Health Care and Sick Leave

- Provide access to health care, resources to access affordable health care and paid sick leave for all workers
- Include access or resources to mental health care to mediate the effects of psychosocial risk factors and promote psychological safety
- Consider workplace health benefits to address MSD pain or symptoms, such as on-site fitness centers, massage or physical therapy

#### **Personal Protective Equipment**

- Routinely check in with employees on if and which PPE needs are being appropriately met, including those with different body types, abilities and cultural preferences
- Use PPE vendors with diverse offerings/sizes that fit your workforce
- Offer on-site PPE vendor sourcing/fitting events (during all shifts) so all employees have the chance to try on options and provide feedback to vendors
- Source technology that fits your workplace and your workforce for example, consider modular exoskeletons instead of one-size-fits-most models





#### **Conclusion**

Diversity, equity and inclusion are vital to consider in the prevention of workplace MSDs. Work environments vary widely in their organization of work, availability of proper equipment and workplace designs, safety culture, psychological safety and psychosocial risk factors. Additionally, workers are diverse in their characteristics, and such workplace factors may disproportionately affect workers' risk of experiencing an MSD, as well as affecting workplace productivity.

Proper ergonomic interventions should account for diverse workforces and workplaces and can lead to inclusive, safe and open environments. Equitable solutions, such as those offered throughout this report, can be implemented to improve the workplace for all employees. Employers should consider the unique needs of their diverse workforces to create inclusive environments with equitable MSD prevention solutions to keep all employees safe and free from ergonomic hazards, regardless of individual characteristics. An equitable workplace recognizes and celebrates the differences in its workforce, prioritizes the inclusion of all when implementing ergonomic programs and MSD prevention solutions, and strengthens the company and its bottom line.

#### **Authors**

Sydney Mosser, M.S., Paige DeBaylo, Ph.D., Ram Maikala, Ph.D., ASP

## **Acknowledgments**

Special thanks to the many individuals, especially those from the MSD Solutions Lab Advisory Council, who dedicated their time and expertise to the contribution and review of this paper.

Additional thanks to the experts and industry representatives who gave input on this paper and practical applications.

# **Funding**

This research was supported by Amazon.com, Inc. Its contents and results reflect the authors' contributions and are solely their responsibility, and do not necessarily represent the views of Amazon, or the official position of the National Safety Council.



#### References

Adebajo, A., Shikoh, S., Kumar, K., & Walker, D. (2018). Ethnic minority musculoskeletal health: Improving health literacy. *Rheumatology*. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/kex006

Afanuh, S., Johnson, A.I. (2017). *Using total worker health concepts to reduce the health risks from sedentary work.* NIOSH, CDC. <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/wp-solutions/2017-131/pdfs/2017-131.pdf">https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/wp-solutions/2017-131/pdfs/2017-131.pdf</a>

Ahn, J., Kim, N.-S., Lee, B.-K., Park, J., & Kim, Y. (2019). Relationship of occupational category with risk of physical and mental health problems. *Safety and Health at Work, 10*(4), 504-511. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.shaw.2019.07.007">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.shaw.2019.07.007</a>

Akay, P. A., & Ahmadi, N. (2022). The work environment of immigrant employees in Sweden: A systematic review. *International Migration & Integration*, 23, 2235–2268. doi: 10.1007/s12134-021-00931-0.

Al-Zawahreh, A., & Al-Madi, F. (2012). The utility of equity theory in enhancing organizational effectiveness. European Journal of Economics, Finance and Administrative Sciences, 46(3), 159-169.

Andersen, L. L., Fallentin, N., Thorsen, S. V., & Holtermann, A. (2016). Physical workload and risk of long-term sickness absence in the general working population and among blue-collar workers: Prospective cohort study with register follow-up. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 73, 246-253. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2015-103314">http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2015-103314</a>

Attarchi, M., Raeisi, S., Namvar, M., Golabadi, M. (2014). Association between shift working and musculoskeletal symptoms among nursing personnel. *Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research*, 19(3), 309-314.

Banks, J., Patel, C. J., & Moola, M. A. (2012). Perceptions of inequity in the workplace: Exploring the link with unauthorised absenteeism. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, 10(1), 1-8.

Baron, S. L., Steege, A. L., Marsh, S. M., Menéndez, C. C., & Myers, J. R. (2013). Nonfatal work-related injuries and illnesses—United States, 2010. CDC Health Disparities and Inequalities Report—United States, 2013, 62(3), 35-40.

Bernard, B. P., & Putz-Anderson, V. (1997). Musculoskeletal disorders and workplace factors; A critical review of epidemiologic evidence for work-related musculoskeletal disorders of the neck, upper extremity, and low back. NIOSH, CDC. <a href="https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/21745">https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/21745</a>

BostonTec. (2022, October 6). Designing wheelchair-accessible workbenches for warehouses. [Blog Release]. https://www.bostontec.com/design-wheelchair-accessible-workbenches-for-warehouses/

Bovenzi, M., Prodi, A., & Mauro, M. (2016). A longitudinal study of neck and upper limb musculoskeletal disorders and alternative measures of vibration exposure. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 89(6), 923–933. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-016-1131-9

Buchanan, S., Vossenas, P., Krause, N., Moriarty, J., Frumin, E., Shimek, J. A., Mirer, F., Orris, P., & Punnett, L. (2010). Occupational injury disparities in the US hotel industry. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, *53*(2), 116–125. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.20724

Bureau of Labor Statistics. (1999, October 27). *Industries with the most cases of occupational stress*. The Economics Daily. <a href="https://www.bls.gov/opub/ted/1999/oct/wk4/art03.htm">https://www.bls.gov/opub/ted/1999/oct/wk4/art03.htm</a>

Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety. (2024, February 10). *Hazards*. https://www.ccohs.ca/topics/hazards

Canjuga, M., Hämmig, O., Bauer, G. F., & Läubli, T. (2010). Correlates of short- and long-term absence due to musculoskeletal disorders. *Occupational Medicine (Oxford, England), 60*(5), 358–361. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqq024">https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqq024</a>

Caruso, C. C. (2014). Negative impacts of shiftwork and long work hours. *Rehabilitation Nursing*, 39(1), 16-25. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/rnj.107">https://doi.org/10.1002/rnj.107</a>

Caruso, C. C., & Waters, T. R. (2008). A review of work schedule issues and musculoskeletal disorders with an emphasis on the healthcare sector. *Industrial Health*, 46(6), 523-534.

Chicha, M. T. (2006). A comparative analysis of promoting pay equity: Models and impacts. International Labour Office: Geneva. <a href="https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=f376b884cf7bca4f1eec824999a5310f78851f13">https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=f376b884cf7bca4f1eec824999a5310f78851f13</a>

Daniels, I. D. (2022). The lived experience of black workers' exposure to psychosocial safety hazards in the American workplace [Doctoral dissertation, Capitol Technology University].

Dike, P. (2013). The impact of workplace diversity on organizations. *Arcada*. https://urn.fi/URN:NBN:fi:amk-2013070314557

Downey, G., Gallo, E., & Stanch, P. (2023). *DEI through ergonomics: Supporting diverse body types and abilities*. The Synergist. https://synergist.aiha.org/20230607-dei-through-ergonomics

Edmondson, A. (1999). Psychological safety and learning behavior in work teams. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 44(2), 350-383.

Fekedulegn, D., Alterman, T., Charles, L. E., Kershaw, K. N., Safford, M. M., Howard, V. J., & MacDonald, L. A. (2019). Prevalence of workplace discrimination and mistreatment in a national sample of older U.S. workers: The REGARDS cohort study. SSM - *Population Health*, *8*, 100444. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2019.100444.

Ferguson, J. M., Bradshaw, P. T., Eisen, E. A., Rehkopf, D., Cullen, M. R., & Costello, S. (2023). Distribution of working hour characteristics by race, age, gender, and shift schedule among US manufacturing workers. *Chronobiology international*, 40(3), 310-323.

Fischer, D., Lombardi, D. A., Folkard, S., Willetts, J., & Christiani, D. C. (2017). Updating the "Risk Index": A systematic review and meta-analysis of occupational injuries and work schedule characteristics. *Chronobiology International*, 34(10), 1423-1438.

Flynn, M. A. (2014). Safety and the diverse workforce: Lessons from NIOSH's work with Latino immigrants. *Professional Safety*, *59*(6), 52-57. PMID: 26566296; PMCID: PMC4641045.

Fram, B., Bishop, M. E., Beredjiklian, P., & Seigerman, D. (2021). Female sex is associated with increased reported injury rates and difficulties with use of orthopedic surgical instruments. *Cureus*, *13*(5), e14952. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.14952">https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.14952</a>

Frazier, M. L., Fainshmidt, S., Klinger, R. L., Pezeshkan, A., & Vracheva, V. (2017). Psychological safety: A meta-analytic review and extension. *Personnel Psychology*, 70(1), 113-165. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/peps.12183

Gallagher, S., & Heberger, J. R. (2013). Examining the interaction of force and repetition on musculoskeletal disorder risk: A systematic literature review. *Human Factors*, 55(1), 108-24. doi: 10.1177/0018720812449648.

Garcia, G. M., & de Castro, B. (2017). Working conditions, occupational Injuries, and health among Filipino fish processing workers in Dutch Harbor, Alaska. *Workplace Health & Safety, 65*(5), 219–226. doi: 10.1177/2165079916665396.

Genin, P. M., Dessenne, P., Finaud, J., Pereira, B., Dutheil, F., Thivel, D., & Duclos, M. (2018). Effect of work-related sedentary time on overall health profile in active vs. inactive office workers. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 6, 279. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2018.00279.

Gignac, M. A., Ibrahim, S., Smith, P. M., Kristman, V., Beaton, D. E., & Mustard, C. A. (2018). The role of sex, gender, health factors, and job context in workplace accommodation use among men and women with arthritis. Annals of Work Exposures and Health, 62(4), 490-504. https://doi.org/10.1093/annweh/wxx115

Gjesdal, S., Bratberg, E., & Mæland, J. G. (2011). Gender differences in disability after sickness absence with musculoskeletal disorders: A five-year prospective study of 37,942 women and 26,307 men. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 12, 37. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-12-37.

Gomberg-Muñoz, R. (2010). Willing to work: Agency and vulnerability in an undocumented immigrant network. *American Anthropologist*, 112(2), 295-307.

Habibi, E., Taheri, M. R., & Hasanzadeh, A. (2015). Relationship between mental workload and musculoskeletal disorders among Alzahra Hospital nurses. *Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research*, 20(1), 1.

Hämmig, O. (2020). Work- and stress-related musculoskeletal and sleep disorders among health professionals: A cross-sectional study in a hospital setting in Switzerland. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 21(1), 319. doi: 10.1186/s12891-020-03327-w.

Hargreaves, S., Rustage, K., Nellums, L.B., McAlpine, A., Pocock, N., Devakumar, D., Aldridge, R.W., Abubakar, I., Kristensen, K.L., Himmels, J.W. (2019) Occupational health outcomes among international migrant workers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Global Health* 7(7):e872–e882 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(19)30204-9">https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(19)30204-9</a>

Healthy Workplaces. (2021, March 11). How to be gender-sensitive when tackling MSDs in the workplace [Press release]. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. <a href="https://healthy-workplaces.eu/en/media-centre/news/how-be-gender-sensitive-when-tackling-msds-workplace">https://healthy-workplaces.eu/en/media-centre/news/how-be-gender-sensitive-when-tackling-msds-workplace</a>

Hegewisch, A., & Mefferd, E. (2021). Future worth building: What tradeswomen say about the change they need in the construction industry. The Institute for Women's Policy Research. <a href="https://iwpr.org/a-future-worth-building-report/">https://iwpr.org/a-future-worth-building-report/</a>

Herzog, N. V., Buchmeister, B., & Harih, G. (2019). Ergonomic workplace design for workers with disabilities. In B. Katalinic (Ed.), *DAAAM International Scientific Book 2019* (pp. 159-174). DAAAM International. DOI: 10.2507/daaam. scibook.2019.12.

Hewitt, S., Dong, R., McDowell, T., & Welcome, D. (2016). The efficacy of anti-vibration gloves. *Acoustics Australia*, 44(1), 121-127. doi: 10.1007/s40857-015-0040-5.

Hiesinger, K., & Tophoven, S. (2019). Job requirement level, work demands, and health: A prospective study among older workers. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, *92*, 1139–1149. doi: 10.1007/s00420-019-01451-2.

Hill, L., Artiga, S., Damico, A. (2024, January 11). *Health coverage by race and ethnicity, 2010-2022*. KFF. https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/issue-brief/health-coverage-by-race-and-ethnicity/

Higgins, D. M., Fenton, B. T., Driscoll, M. A., Heapy, A. A., Kerns, R. D., Bair, M. J., ... Goulet, J. L. (2017). Gender differences in demographic and clinical correlates among veterans with musculoskeletal disorders. *Women's Health Issues*, 27(4), 463-470. doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2017.01.008.

Hislop, J., Orth, D., Tirosh, O., Isaksson, M., Hensman, C., & McCormick, J. (2023). Does surgeon sex and anthropometry matter for tool usability in traditional laparoscopic surgery? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Surgical Endoscopy, 37*, 6640–6659. doi: 10.1007/s00464-023-10228-1.

Holmström, E., & Engholm, G. (2003). Musculoskeletal disorders in relation to age and occupation in Swedish construction workers. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 44(4), 377-384. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.10281\_

Hoogendoorn, W. E., Bongers, P. M., de Vet, H. C., Ariëns, G. A., van Mechelen, W., & Bouter, L. M. (2002). High physical work load and low job satisfaction increase the risk of sickness absence due to low back pain: Results of a prospective cohort study. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *59*(5), 323–328. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/oem.59.5.323">https://doi.org/10.1136/oem.59.5.323</a>

Howard J. (2017). Nonstandard work arrangements and worker health and safety. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 60(1), 1–10. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.22669">https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.22669</a>

Injury Facts. (2020). *Musculoskeletal Injuries and Illnesses*. National Safety Council. <a href="https://injuryfacts.nsc.org/work/safety-topics/musculoskeletal-injuries/">https://injuryfacts.nsc.org/work/safety-topics/musculoskeletal-injuries/</a>

Institute for Work & Health. (2016). *Understanding MSDs with a sex/gender lens*. At Work. <a href="https://www.iwh.on.ca/newsletters/at-work/85/understanding-msds-with-sexgender-lens">https://www.iwh.on.ca/newsletters/at-work/85/understanding-msds-with-sexgender-lens</a>

International Labour Organization. (2016). *Promoting diversity and inclusion through workplace adjustments: A practical guide.* https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/equality-and-discrimination/WCMS\_536630/lang--en/index.htm

- Isusi, I., Corral, A., Duran, J., Kok, J.D., Snijders, J., Buhring, T., & Curtarelli, M. (2020). *Workforce diversity and musculoskeletal disorders: Review of facts and figures and examples*. European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. <a href="https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2802/499283">https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2802/499283</a>
- Janssens, M. & Zanoni, P. (2008, July 3-6). What makes an organization inclusive? Organizational practices favoring the relational inclusion of ethnic minorities in operative jobs. [Paper presentation]. International Association for Conflict Management 21st Annual Meeting, Chicago, IL, United States.
- Jeraj, S., & Butt, J. (2020). Musculoskeletal conditions and Black, Asian and minority ethnic people: Addressing health inequalities. Race Equality Foundation. <a href="https://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/MSK-Report-Addressing-Health-Inequalities.pdf">https://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/MSK-Report-Addressing-Health-Inequalities.pdf</a>
- Johanning, E., Stillo, M., & Landsbergis, P. (2020). Powered-hand tools and vibration-related disorders in US-railway maintenance-of-way workers. *Industrial health*, *58*(6), 539–553. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2486/indhealth.2020-0133">https://doi.org/10.2486/indhealth.2020-0133</a>
- Kachan, D., Fleming, L. E., LeBlanc, W. G., Goodman, E., Arheart, K. L., Caban-Martinez, A. J., Clarke, T. C., Ocasio, M. A., Christ, S., & Lee, D. J. (2012). Worker populations at risk for work-related injuries across the life course. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 55(4), 361–366. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.21994
- Kahn, W. A. (1990). Psychological conditions of personal engagement and disengagement at work. *Academy of Management Journal*, 33(4), 692-724.
- Kelly, M., & Benitez, M. (2022). Needs assessment for Oregon's highway trades apprenticeship. Portland State University. <a href="https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Business/OCR/SiteAssets/Pages/Workforce-Development/Needs\_Assessment\_November\_22\_FINAL.pdf">https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Business/OCR/SiteAssets/Pages/Workforce-Development/Needs\_Assessment\_November\_22\_FINAL.pdf</a>
- Khalifa, M. H. E. D., & Truong, Q. (2010). The relationship between employee perceptions of equity and job satisfaction in the Egyptian private universities. *Eurasian Journal of Business and Economics*, 3(5), 135-150.
- Krieger N. (2010). Workers are people too: Societal aspects of occupational health disparities--an ecosocial perspective. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, *53*(2), 104–115. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.20759
- Krieger, N., Chen, J. T., Waterman, P. D., Hartman, C., Stoddard, A. M., Quinn, M. M., Sorensen, G., & Barbeau, E. M. (2008). The inverse hazard law: Blood pressure, sexual harassment, racial discrimination, workplace abuse and occupational exposures in US low-income Black, White and Latino workers. *Social Science & Medicine* (1982), 67(12), 1970–1981. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.09.039
- Landsbergis, P. A., Choi, B., Dobson, M., Sembajwe, G., Slatin, C., Delp, L., ... & Baron, S. (2018). The key role of work in population health inequities. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(3), 296-297. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.304288">https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.304288</a>
- Lee, J., Kim, G.H., Jung, S.W., Kim, S.W., Lee, J., Lee, K. (2018). The association between long working hours and work-related musculoskeletal symptoms of Korean wage workers: Data from the fourth Korean working conditions survey (a cross-sectional study). *Annals of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 30(1), 1-11. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s40557-018-0278-0">https://doi.org/10.1186/s40557-018-0278-0</a>
- Li, X., Yang, X., Sun, X., Xue, Q., Ma, X., & Liu, J. (2021). Associations of musculoskeletal disorders with occupational stress and mental health among coal miners in Xinjiang, China: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, *21*(1), 1327. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11379-3
- Lin, J-H., Maikala, R. V., McGorry, R., & Brunette, C. (2010). NIRS application in evaluating threaded-fastener driving assembly tasks. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, 40(2), 146-152. doi: 10.1016/j.ergon.2008.12.005.
- Lipscomb, J.A., Trinkoff, A.M., Geiger-Brown, J., Brady, B. (2002). Work-schedule characteristics and reported musculoskeletal disorders of registered nurses. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health, 28*(6), 394-401. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.691">https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.691</a>
- Loch, C. H., Sting, F. J., Bauer, N., & Mauermann, H. (2010). How BMW is defusing the demographic time bomb. *Harvard Business Review, 88*(3), 99-102.
- Lu, M. L., Nakata, A., Park, J. B., & Swanson, N. G. (2014). Workplace psychosocial factors associated with work-related injury absence: A study from a nationally representative sample of Korean workers. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 21(1), 42-52. doi: 10.1007/s12529-013-9325-y.

Luong, M. L. N., Cleveland, R. J., Nyrop, K. A., & Callahan, L. F. (2012). Social determinants and osteoarthritis outcomes. *Aging Health*, 8(4), 413-437. https://doi.org/10.2217/ahe.12.43

Mabud, R., Paye, A., Pinto, M., & Pinto, S. (2021). Foundations for a just and inclusive recovery: Economic security, health and safety, and agency and voice in the COVID-19 era. National Employment Law Project. <a href="https://s27147.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/Foundations-for-Just-Inclusive-Recovery-Report.pdf">https://s27147.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/Foundations-for-Just-Inclusive-Recovery-Report.pdf</a>

Mahajan, A., & Benson, P. (2013). Organisational justice climate, social capital and firm performance. *Journal of Management Development*, 32(7), 721-736.

Marth, R. (2022, June 1). *Addressing physical differences*. Occupational Health & Safety. <a href="https://ohsonline.com/articles/2022/06/01/addressing-physical-differences.aspx">https://ohsonline.com/articles/2022/06/01/addressing-physical-differences.aspx</a>

Martinelli, K. (2019, January 7). *A guide to the most common workplace hazards*. High Speed Training <a href="https://www.highspeedtraining.co.uk/hub/hazards-in-the-workplace/">https://www.highspeedtraining.co.uk/hub/hazards-in-the-workplace/</a>

Marucci-Wellman H. (2018). Precarious employment and occupational injuries in the digital age – where should we go from here? *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health, 44*(4), 335–339. https://doi.org/10.5271/siweh.3749

McCollister, K. E., Arheart, K. L., Lee, D. J., Fleming, L. E., Davila, E. P., LeBlanc, W. G., Christ, S. L., Caban-Martinez, A. J., West, J. P., Clark, J. E., 3rd, & Erard, M. J. (2010). Declining health insurance access among US Hispanic workers: Not all jobs are created equal. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, *53*(2), 163–170. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.20720">https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.20720</a>

Mehlum, I. S., Kristensen, P., Kjuus, H., & Wergeland, E. (2008). Are occupational factors important determinants of socioeconomic inequalities in musculoskeletal pain? *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 250-259. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.1269

Milligan-Saville, J. S., Tan, L., Gayed, A., Barnes, C., Madan, I., Dobson, M., Bryant, R. A., Christensen, H., Mykletun, A., & Harvey, S. B. (2017). Workplace mental health training for managers and its effect on sick leave in employees: A cluster randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet. Psychiatry*, *4*(11), 850–858. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30372-3

Morrissey, M. (2023). Many older workers have difficult jobs that put them at risk: Working longer is not a viable solution to the retirement crisis. Economic Policy Institute. <a href="https://www.epi.org/publication/older-workers-difficult-jobs/#:~:text=Implications%3A%20Policymakers%20and%20researchers%20often,higher%20risk%20as%20they%20age">https://www.epi.org/publication/older-workers-difficult-jobs/#:~:text=Implications%3A%20Policymakers%20and%20researchers%20often,higher%20risk%20as%20they%20age</a>

Morukian, M. (2022). Diversity, equity, and inclusion for trainers: Fostering DEI in the workplace. Association for Talent Development.

Mutambudzi, M. (2017). Association between workplace psychosocial factors and mental health in Black, Hispanic, and White women: Cross-sectional findings from the National Health Interview Survey. *Women & Health*, 57(10), 1129-1144.

Nair, N. & Vohra, N. (2015). *Diversity and inclusion at the workplace:* A review of research and perspective. Indian Institute of Management. <a href="https://www.iima.ac.in/sites/default/files/rnpfiles/8631467072015-03-34.pdf">https://www.iima.ac.in/sites/default/files/rnpfiles/8631467072015-03-34.pdf</a>

National Health Service of England (2022). *Safety culture: Learning from the best practice*. <a href="https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/safety-culture-learning-from-best-practice/">https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/safety-culture-learning-from-best-practice/</a>

Nemmers, P. (2018, December 26) *Types of hazards*. National Association of Safety Professionals. https://naspweb.com/blog/types-of-hazards/

Ng, Y. M., Voo, P., & Maakip, I. (2019). Psychosocial factors, depression, and musculoskeletal disorders among teachers. *BMC Public Health*, 19(1), 234. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-6553-3">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-6553-3</a> https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-6553-3

Nguyen, L. H., Drew, D. A., Graham, M. S., Joshi, A. D., Guo, C. G., Ma, W., ... & Zhang, F. (2020). Risk of COVID-19 among front-line health-care workers and the general community: A prospective cohort study. *The Lancet Public Health*, 5(9), e475-e483. NSC 2022a

NIOSH. (2023). Productive aging and work. CDC. https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/productiveaging/default.html

O'Brien, R., Neman, T., Seltzer, N., Evans, L., & Venkataramani, A. (2020). Structural racism, economic opportunity and racial health disparities: Evidence from US counties. *SSM-Population Health*, 11. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2020.100564">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2020.100564</a>

O'Donovan, D. (2018). Diversity and inclusion in the workplace. In C. Machado & J. P. Davim. *Organizational behaviour and human resource management* (pp. 73-108). Springer, Cham. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-66864-2">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-66864-2</a>

Peacock, S., & Patel, S. (2008). Cultural influences on pain. *Reviews in Pain*, 1(2), 6-9. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/204946370800100203

Rattan, N. (2023, February 1). Safety culture and leadership in the era of diversity, equity, and inclusion. Canadian Occupational Safety. <a href="https://www.thesafetymag.com/ca/topics/safety-and-ppe/safety-culture-and-leadership-in-the-era-of-diversity-equity-and-inclusion/434876">https://www.thesafetymag.com/ca/topics/safety-and-ppe/safety-culture-and-leadership-in-the-era-of-diversity-equity-and-inclusion/434876</a>

Respectful Workplace Review Committee. (2020, October). *Tools to address jobsite culture in construction*. Portland Community College. <a href="https://www.pcc.edu/bond/wp-content/uploads/sites/57/2021/04/Respectful-Workplace-Review-Committee-Recommendations-Report\_09292020.pdf">https://www.pcc.edu/bond/wp-content/uploads/sites/57/2021/04/Respectful-Workplace-Review-Committee-Recommendations-Report\_09292020.pdf</a>

Richard, O.C., Triana, M.d.C., & Mingxiang, L. (2021). The effects of racial diversity congruence between upper management and lower management on firm productivity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 64(5): 1355–1382. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2019.0468

Rick, J., & Briner, R. (2000). Psychosocial risk assessment: Problems and prospects. *Occupational Medicine*, 50(5), 310-314.

Rogers E. & Wiatrowski, W. (2005). Injuries, illnesses, and fatalities among older workers. *Monthly Labor Review, 128*(10), 24-30.

Salvendy, G. (Ed.). (2012). Handbook of human factors and ergonomics. John Wiley & Sons.

Samanta, A., Das, P., Adebajo, A., Chakravarty, K., & Johnson, M. R. D. (2013). Musculoskeletal conditions and minority ethnic groups: Making sense and sensibility of healthcare in a global environment. *Journal of General Practice*, 1, e104. https://doi.org/10.4172/2329-9126.1000e104

Seabury, S. A., Terp, S., & Boden, L. I. (2017). Racial and ethnic differences in the frequency of workplace injuries and prevalence of work-related disability. *Health Affairs*, 36(2), 266-273.

Shore, L. M., & Chung, B. G. (2022). Inclusive leadership: How leaders sustain or discourage work group inclusion. *Group & Organization Management*, 47(4), 723-754.

Silverstein, M. (2008). Meeting the challenges of an aging workforce. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 51(4), 269-280. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.20569">https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.20569</a>

Smith, C. K., Wuellner, S., & Marcum, J. (2023). Racial and ethnic disparities in workers' compensation claims rates. *PLoS ONE*, *18*(1), e0280307. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0280307.

Snipes, S. A., Cooper, S. P., & Shipp, E. M. (2017). "The only thing I wish I could change is that they treat us like people and not like animals": Injury and discrimination among Latino farmworkers. *Journal of Agromedicine*, 22(1), 36-46. DOI: 10.1080/1059924X.2016.1248307.

Sterud, T., Tynes, T., Mehlum, I.S., et al. (2018). A systematic review of working conditions and occupational health among immigrants in Europe and Canada. *BMC Public Health*, 18, 770. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5703-3

Stewart III, S., Chui, M., Manyika, J., Julien, J. P., Hunt, V., Sternfels, B., ... & Zhang, H. (2021). *The economic state of Black America: What is and what could be.* McKinsey & Company. <a href="https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/diversity-and-inclusion/the-economic-state-of-black-america-what-is-and-what-could-be?cid=eml-web">https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/diversity-and-inclusion/the-economic-state-of-black-america-what-is-and-what-could-be?cid=eml-web</a>

Strong, L. L., & Zimmerman, F. J. (2005). Occupational injury and absence from work among African American, Hispanic, and non-Hispanic White workers in the national longitudinal survey of youth. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(7), 1226–1232. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2004.044396">https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2004.044396</a>

Tagoe, T., & Amponsah-Tawiah, K. (2019). Psychosocial hazards and work engagement in the Ghanaian banking sector. *The International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 37(2), 310-331. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-04-2019-0136

The Committee on Education and Labor. (2008) Hidden tragedy: Underreporting of workplace injuries and illnesses. U.S. House of Representatives. https://www.bls.gov/iif/data-quality-research/hidden-tragedyunderreporting-of-workplace-injuries-and-illnesses.pdf

The Joint Commission. (2012) Improving patient and worker safety: Opportunities for synergy, collaboration and innovation. The Joint Commission. https://www.jointcommission.org/-/media/tjc/documents/resources/patientsafety-topics/work-place-violence-prevention/updated-wsps-monograph-final-42020.pdf

Thissen, L., Biermann-Teuscher, D., Horstman, K., & Meershoek, A. (2023). (Un)belonging at work: An overlooked ingredient of workplace health. Health Promotion International, 38(3). doi: 10.1093/heapro/daad061.

Thumula, V., & Negrusa, S. (2022). A primer on behavioral health care in workers' compensation. The Workers Compensation Research Institute. https://www.wcrinet.org/reports/a-primer-on-behavioral-health-care-inworkers-compensation

Topete, L., Forst, L., Zanoni, J., & Friedman, L. (2018). Workers' compensation and the working poor: Occupational health experience among low wage workers in federally qualified health centers. American Journal of Industrial Medicine, 61(3), 189-197. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.22813

Tranter, G. (2021, April 25). PPE: One size does not fit all. Croner-i. https://app.croneri.co.uk/feature-articles/ppeone-size-does-not-fit-all?product=135

U.S. Department of Labor. (2023, July 19). Department of Labor announces proposed rule to clarify personal protective equipment standard, ensure safety of construction industry workers [Press Release]. https://www.osha. gov/news/newsreleases/national/07192023

Verllinden, N. (2023). Diversity, equity, inclusion and belonging (DEIB): A 2023 overview. Academy to Innovate HR. https://www.aihr.com/blog/diversity-equity-inclusion-belonging-deib/

Weaver, S. J., Lubomksi, L. H., Wilson, R. F., Pfoh, E. R., Martinez, K. A., & Dy, S. M. (2013). Promoting a culture of safety as a patient safety strategy: A systematic review. Annals of Internal Medicine, 158, 369-374.

Yang, H., Lu, M.-L., Haldeman, S., & Swanson, N. (2023). Psychosocial risk factors for low back pain in US workers: Data from the 2002-2018 quality of work life survey. American Journal of Industrial Medicine, 66(1), 41-53.

